Do riverine heatwaves impact ecosystem metabolism?

Olivia Beidler Roanoke, VA

A Thesis presented to the Faculty of the University of Virginia in Fulfillment of the Distinguished Majors Program

Department of Environmental Sciences University of Virginia May 2024

> Michael Pace, Thesis Advisor

Robert Davis, Director of Distinguished Majors Program

Abstract

In response to climate change, research on extreme conditions is accelerating. One such condition is the aquatic heatwave. With an expected rise in the occurrence, severity, and span of heatwaves, aquatic ecosystem processes will be affected, but the impacts are understudied and uncertain. This study addressed the effects of aquatic heatwaves on gross primary production (GPP), ecosystem respiration (ER), and their difference defined as net ecosystem metabolism (NEM) in a riverine ecosystem. Using long-term data from a site in the James River, water temperature time series were analyzed for heatwave metrics. In addition, by using dissolved oxygen time series, daily rates of GPP and ER were estimated. Of the 40 heatwaves observed during this study, 70% were of moderate severity and 30% were of strong severity, as determined based on peak temperatures. The average (\pm SD) frequency of heatwaves was 2 ± 2 events year ⁻¹ and ranged up to 5 events year ⁻¹. The average duration and maximum intensity of a heatwave was 8 ± 3 days and $5.22 \pm 1.36^{\circ}$ C. GPP was significantly higher during moderate heatwaves $(1.01 \pm 1.30 \text{ g O}_2 \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1}, \text{ p-value} = 0.003)$ compared to non-heatwave conditions $(0.70 \pm 0.96 \text{ g } \text{O}_2 \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1})$. GPP significantly declined during strong heatwaves $(0.49 \pm 1.13 \text{ g O}_2 \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1})$ relative to moderate heatwaves (p-value = 0.002), which suggests unfavorable conditions for primary producers as heatwaves become more severe. ER and NEM were not significantly different during heatwave and nonheatwave conditions, nor during moderate versus strong heatwaves. Overall, these results suggest that GPP will increase with increasing water temperature until a thermal maximum is reached and then begin to decline. This may result in increased CO₂ release to the atmosphere as rivers become increasingly heterotrophic under persistent and strong heatwayes.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to extend my utmost gratitude to my thesis advisors, Michael Pace and Spencer Tassone. They have provided me endless support and guidance in navigating the world of scientific writing and I will forever be thankful for all of their support. Spencer has also given me access to his unpublished work to guide my conclusions about the current study. I would also like to thank Jim Galloway and the rest of the Nitrogen Working Group. Jim encouraged me to pursue the Distinguished Majors Program, so I would not be here without his referral. Additionally, the Nitrogen Working Group has afforded me tremendous opportunities and has made me feel like I found my place at UVA. Thank you to Will Tomanek and the UVA StatsLab for their help with technical difficulties. Lastly, I want to thank my friends and family for their support on this journey and for helping me find peace amidst the chaos.

Table of Contents

Abstract	.2
Acknowledgements	.3
List of Figures	.5
List of Tables	.6
Introduction	.7
Methods1	0
Study Site1	0
Data & Data Manipulation1	. 1
Heatwave Analysis1	3
Metabolism Analysis1	3
Statistical Analysis1	5
Results1	6
Heatwaves1	6
Physical, Chemical, and Hydrological Site Conditions1	8
Are Metabolic Rates Different During Heatwaves?1	9
Discussion2	21
References2	26

List of Figures

Figure 1. Map of study-site watershed (red area). Black dot indicates the sampling location for data analyzed in this study - "James River at Cartersville" USGS station10
Figure 2. Model used to determine depth (m) using historic depth and gage height (m) data from the USGS Cartersville station. This equation was applied over the time series to estimate water column depth from directly measured gage height
Figure 3. Total number of heatwave (HW) events per water year. Yellow bars represent moderate heatwaves and orange bars represent strong heatwaves. Extreme and severe heatwaves were not observed in this study. No heatwaves occurred in the years 2009 and 2013
Figure 4. Daily average residual discharge during heatwave events. The median value is the dark line within the distribution, box ends are the 25th and 75th percentiles, and lines extending from the boxes indicate the 5th and 95th percentiles
Figure 5. High-frequency observations of discharge (top left), water temperature (bottom left), PAR (top right), and DO (bottom right) over the water years of 2012 to 2023
Figure 6. Average monthly rates of GPP (green, top) and ER (blue, bottom) after the outlier and non-real data were removed. ER values are generally much greater than GPP values, indicating a net heterotrophic system
Figure 7. Riverine heatwave conditions by metabolic variable. Baseline (no heatwave) conditions are in blue, moderate heatwaves are in yellow, and strong heatwaves are in orange. GPP significantly increased during moderate heatwaves ($p < 0.05$) and significantly decreased during strong heatwaves compared to moderate heatwaves ($p < 0.05$). There were no other significant differences.

List of Tables

Table 1 . Summary statistics for output metabolism data from streamMetabolizer. These values	
were calculated after the outlier and non-real data were removed. A negative mean NEM	
indicates the system is net heterotrophic)

Introduction

Climate change is increasing water temperatures in the global ocean (Rhein et al. 2013), as well as in inland waters (Kaushal et al. 2010; O'Reilly et al. 2015). In freshwater systems, water temperature exerts strong controls on organism distribution (Vannote et al. 1980), contaminant toxicity (Patra et al. 2015) and rates of biochemical reactions (De Stasio et al. 2009). Along with increases in annual mean water temperature are increases in discrete, extremely high-temperature events called heatwaves (Hobday et al. 2016). Hobday et al. (2016) formally defined an aquatic heatwave as a period of sustained high temperature that exceeds a local and seasonally varying long-term 90th percentile for at least 5 consecutive days. Aquatic heatwaves have been relatively well-studied in the global (Oliver et al. 2018) and coastal oceans (Lima and Wethey 2012) and lakes (Woolway et al. 2021). However, the development of aquatic heatwaves in rivers and streams has only recently been considered (Tassone et al. 2022a; Zhu et al. 2024). For lotic systems, aquatic heatwaves are associated with high air temperatures often in concert with low river discharge (Tassone et al. 2022a). As global temperatures rise, riverine heatwaves are expected to increase in frequency, as well as duration, along with achieving ever higher maximum temperatures (Tassone et al. 2022a; Zhu et al. 2024). The consequences of these changes include possible exceedance of organismal thermal tolerances and associated changes in ecosystem processes (Joint and Smale 2017; Smale et al. 2019), economic costs from the loss of resource species (Smale et al. 2019; Smith et al. 2021) and diminishing water quality (van Vliet et al. 2023).

This study explores the significance of riverine heatwaves in the context of riverine ecosystem functioning. Ecosystem metabolism is a central process governing the flux of carbon and oxygen. Metabolism is an umbrella term used to describe gross primary production (GPP),

ecosystem respiration (ER), and their difference defined as net ecosystem metabolism (NEM = GPP - ER). In aquatic systems, ecosystem metabolism can be measured by considering fluxes in oxygen over the diel cycle (Odum 1956; Pace and Prairie 2005; Bernhardt et al. 2018).

Water temperature affects dissolved oxygen (DO) solubility (Zhi et al. 2023) as well as metabolic rates of aquatic organisms (Caffrey 2004; Demars et al. 2011). DO solubility declines with increasing water temperature (Zhi et al. 2023). Rates of respiration tend to increase with water temperature to a maximum (Pace and Prairie 2005; Tassone and Bukaveckas 2019). Respiration may also decline at very high temperatures, but this pattern is less well-documented for in situ conditions (although established for individual organisms; Gillooly et al. 2001). Rates of GPP follow a similar trend to those of ER, though GPP is also limited by other factors such as light availability or nutrients (Bernhardt et al. 2018; Joint and Smale 2017; Song et al 2018) but these limitations do not always occur (Demars et al. 2011). An increase in ER relative to GPP causes rivers, which are typically net heterotrophic (Cole and Caraco 2001; Mulholland et al. 2001; Demars et al. 2011), to become more strongly net heterotrophic, thereby depleting dissolved oxygen and increasing production of CO₂. This is due to the respiration of exogenous organic matter that flows into rivers from surrounding land. Aquatic heatwaves may increase CO₂ emissions from rivers by enhancing ER relative to GPP (Demars et al. 2011; Bernhardt et al. 2018; Song et al. 2018).

The effects of water temperature on the components of metabolism (GPP, ER, NEM) also differ with seasonality such that the greatest rates of GPP and ER occur during summer and the lowest rates occur in winter (Caffrey 2004; Tassone and Bukaveckas 2019; Munn et al. 2023). In the case of heatwaves, the most severe riverine heatwaves tend to take place during winter (Tassone et al. 2022a). Metabolic dynamics in winter differ from those in warmer conditions, such that heatwaves might further push rates of ER above GPP, since GPP can be especially limited in winter by light, nutrients, and other factors (Joint and Smale 2017).

Changes in discharge also alter riverine ecosystem metabolism (Bernhardt et al. 2018; Tassone and Bukaveckas 2019; Munn et al. 2023). During high-flow conditions, primary production is limited often due to elevated turbidity that reduces light availability (Bernhardt et al. 2018; Bukaveckas et al. 2020; Munn et al. 2023). Similarly, low-flow conditions may limit primary production due to lost habitat and the resulting dry conditions (Bernhardt et al. 2018; Munn et al. 2023). Drought can also amplify temperatures (Tassone et al. 2022a; van Vliet et al. 2023), which again may affect metabolism. Thus, I expected that discharge would impact heatwaves and, consequently, metabolism.

This study aimed to uncover whether riverine heatwaves impact rates of riverine GPP, ER, and NEM beyond expected increases due to temperature. I hypothesized, based on a general review by De Stasio et al. (2009), that rates of ER would increase with increasing heatwave severity relative to non-heatwave conditions. Additionally, I hypothesized that GPP might increase during moderate heatwaves due to being in a more thermally optimal temperature range, however, as heatwaves become more severe, GPP would decrease due to thermal stress on primary producers (De Stasio et al. 2009). The net effect of these changes would be an unchanged NEM during moderate heatwaves whereas rivers would become significantly more heterotrophic during stronger heatwaves. This study is among the first to examine heatwave impacts on ecosystem processes in rivers and is currently the only study of riverine heatwaves for a Virginia river.

Methods

Study Site

For this study I used long-term data from the United States Geological Survey (USGS) monitoring station James River at Cartersville (USGS Site ID: 02035000) in Cumberland County, VA (Figure 1). This site is located in the lower freshwater section of the James River which stretches about 540 km (Smock et al. 2005) and runs through central Virginia, ultimately draining into the Chesapeake Bay. The watershed upstream from the Cartersville station is mostly forested (76.51%) and has a drainage area of 16,187 km² (USGS StreamStats). Between 1911 to 2023 the average depth of the James River at Cartersville was 1.47 ± 1.04 m.



Figure 1. Map of study-site watershed (red area). Black dot indicates the sampling location for data analyzed in this study - "James River at Cartersville" USGS station.

Data & Data Manipulation

For the heatwave analysis I used high frequency (i.e., 15-minute) water temperature observations collected over a 16-year period (Oct 2007- Sept 2023). The water temperature time series were accessed using the dataRetrieval R package version 2.7.13 (De Cicco et al. 2023) and further analyzed using the R environment for statistical computing (R Core Team 2023). While the length of this data is on the lower end of the acceptable range for calculating heatwaves, sensitivity studies show that 10 years of data is acceptable for this type of analysis (Schlegel et al. 2019). Missing data from the high frequency time series was filled by linear interpolation for gaps \leq 6 hours. Daily means were derived from the high frequency observations when \geq 75% of a day's observations were available. Linear interpolation was then performed on the low frequency (i.e., daily) data for gaps \leq 2 days.

For the metabolism analysis I also used high frequency water temperature data in addition to high frequency dissolved oxygen (mg L⁻¹), depth (m), and discharge (m³s⁻¹) data from USGS for an 11-year period (Apr 2012– Sept 2023). Additionally, photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) data were needed for the metabolism analysis, which were obtained from the National Estuarine Research Reserve System (NERRS) Taskinas Creek station which is ~130 km from Cartersville (NOAA 2024). While these PAR data are relatively far from Cartersville, they represent the closest and best PAR time series that is publicly available. PAR data flagged as "suspect" were removed prior to analysis. PAR data were accessed using the NERRS Centralized Data Management Office's Data Export System (<u>https://cdmo.baruch.sc.edu/</u>). Similar to the water temperature data from the heatwave analysis, linear interpolation was performed over gaps ≤ 6 hours on the dissolved oxygen, depth, discharge, and PAR data. While USGS provides a continuous measure of gage height at Cartersville, depth is needed for the metabolism model (described below). To estimate depth at 15-minute intervals, a second order polynomial regression model was created from the relationship between historic gage height and depth (channel area divided by channel width) data provided by USGS (Figure 2). This model was then applied to the continuously monitored gage height at Cartersville to create a continuous depth time series.



Figure 2. Model used to determine depth (m) using historic depth and gage height (m) data from the USGS Cartersville station. This equation was applied over the time series to estimate water column depth from directly measured gage height.

Heatwave Analysis

The R package heatwaveR (version 0.4.6) was applied to identify riverine heatwaves and their characteristics (i.e., total number of heatwaves per year, heatwave duration, and heatwave magnitude; Schlegel and Smit 2018). This package identifies heatwaves according to the Hobday et al. (2016) definition as periods in which daily mean water temperature is > the 90th percentile for \geq 5 days. The package also defines heatwave characteristics for each event, including severity. Heatwave severity ranges among moderate, strong, severe, and extreme and is determined using the peak magnitude of water temperature during the heatwave and by multiples of the difference between the climatological norm and the 90th percentile (Hobday et al. 2018). Each identified heatwave was further classified according to the season in which it occurred (i.e., summer = June to August, fall = September to November, winter = December to February, and spring = March to May), in accordance with similar studies (Caffrey 2004; Lau and Nath 2012; Tassone et al. 2022b).

To account for departures from normal seasonal variability in discharge, I determined the residual discharge for each day. Daily mean values for discharge were downloaded for the same 16-year period (Oct 2007- Sept 2023) as water temperature. There were no missing values in this dataset, eliminating the need to perform interpolations on the daily mean discharge data. Residual discharge was determined as the difference between expected discharge and observed discharge, where expected discharge was derived using the heatwaveR package in R (according to methods in Tassone et al. 2022a).

Metabolism Analysis

Diel dissolved oxygen (DO) dynamics were used to estimate rates of ER and GPP. During the day, DO rises due to photosynthesis exceeding respiration. At night, DO declines due to respiration in the absence of photosynthesis. This oscillation continues daily but DO concentration and magnitude of the cycle may vary between days. The loss of DO at night (ER_n) is used to estimate respiration over the 24-hour period. GPP is estimated by the accumulation of DO during the day plus ER_n .

To determine ecosystem metabolism, the streamMetabolizer R package (version 0.12.1) was utilized (Appling 2018a). This program requires time series input data (described below) in addition to prior values for GPP and ER. I used the default, minimally informative prior values found in the sample code provided by the streamMetabolizer R package for the sample dataset (Appling et al. 2018a), which were: GPP = 3 ± 2 g O₂ m⁻² d⁻¹ and ER = -7.1 ± 7.1 g O₂ m⁻² d⁻¹. These values are referred to as prior probabilities and are used with the measured input data to apply the Bayesian method where estimates of GPP and ER are obtained from the posterior distribution, which is proportional to the probability of the measured input data considering the prior estimates (Hobbs and Hooten 2015; Hall et al. 2016; Tassone and Bukaveckas 2019).

The Bayesian model estimates GPP and ER for each day using observed oxygen concentrations, oxygen saturation determined from water temperature, light determined from PAR, and depth estimated from the gage-height to depth relationship. The model's fundamental equation from Appling et al. (2018b) solves for the rate of change of oxygen over time by determining the combination of GPP, ER, and gas exchange (K600) that fit the daily cycle of oxygen as follows:

$$dO_{id}/dt = (GPP_d/z_d \times (PAR_{id}/PAR_d)) + (ER_d/z_d) + f_{id} (K600_d)(Osat_{id} - O_{id})$$
[1]

where dO_{id}/dt is the rate of change of oxygen concentration with respect to time at any time step *i* (15 minutes in my study) for a specified day *d*; GPP_{*d*} and ER_{*d*} are the daily estimated values in g m⁻² d⁻¹; *z*_{*d*} is the daily mean river depth in meters; PAR_{*id*} is the photon flux over the time step

(*i*) of the specified *d* in mmol m⁻² sec⁻¹; PAR_{*d*} is the average photon flux in the same units over the day; Osat_{*id*} is the oxygen saturation if air and water are in equilibrium, K600 is the gas exchange coefficient in meters per day, and f (K600) is a function to determine gas exchange with respect to oxygen and temperature (Appling et al. 2018b). The three unknowns, GPP, ER, and K600, are estimated using a Hamiltonian Monte-Carlo method to determine the best fit for measured and modeled oxygen over the daily cycle (Appling et al. 2018a,b). The fitting process used 1000 burn-in steps and 500 saved steps for each daily estimation (Appling et al. 2018a,b).

Statistical Analysis

The metabolism analysis produced daily estimates of GPP and ER. Consistent with other studies, some estimates produced negative rates of GPP and positive rates of ER, which are theoretically impossible (Appling et al. 2018b; Pace et al. 2021). Of the 3722 metabolism values estimated by streamMetabolizer, 24% of GPP and 15% of ER values were non-real numbers. These values occur because diel cycles of oxygen are altered by rapidly changing river conditions such as shifting discharge and/or storm passage. Non-real numbers from the metabolism data output were removed based on conditions used in other studies (Appling et al. 2018b); GPP values -0.5 < x < 0 were converted to 0 and GPP values < -0.5 were converted to NAs. Similarly, ER values 0.5 > x > 0 were converted to 0 and ER values > 0.5 were converted to NAs (Appling et al. 2018b).

One obvious outlier was flagged from the respiration data output (-73.03 g O_2 m⁻² d⁻¹), as it was almost three times higher than the next greatest value (-25.54 g O_2 m⁻² d⁻¹). This extreme ER value occurred during a flooding event, and while it may represent a true value, it was 20 standard deviations greater than the mean and was therefore removed to avoid skewing the data. After suspect data removal, daily NEM was calculated, where ER is expressed as a positive value (Eq. 2).

$$NEM = GPP - ER$$
 [2]

To test for the effects of heatwaves on metabolism, data were organized into categories (non-heatwave, moderate heatwave, severe heatwave). One-way ANOVA and Tukey post-hoc tests were performed to test if metabolism parameters (GPP, ER, NEM) were significantly (p-values < 0.05) different among heatwave categories. Linear regressions were conducted for daily mean water temperature vs log transformed GPP and ER and log transformed daily mean discharge vs log transformed GPP and ER.

Results

Heatwaves

There were 40 heatwaves over the 16-year span of this study (Oct 2007- Sept 2023; Figure 3). The average (\pm standard deviation) frequency of heatwaves was 2 ± 2 events year⁻¹ and ranged up to 5 events year⁻¹. Similarly, the average duration and max intensity of a heatwave was 8 ± 3 days and 5.22 ± 1.36 °C. Only moderate and strong heatwaves were observed, comprising 70% and 30% of the total observed events, respectively. Overall, 28 moderate heatwaves were observed for a total of 187 days and 12 strong heatwaves were observed for a total of 115 days. The majority of heatwaves occurred in the summer (32%), followed by winter (28%), fall (25%), and spring (15%). There were no statistically significant linear trends for the annual total heatwave days per water year or annual frequency of heatwaves per water year (both p-values > 0.05).



Figure 3. Total number of heatwave (HW) events per water year. Yellow bars represent moderate heatwaves and orange bars represent strong heatwaves. Extreme and severe heatwaves were not observed in this study. No heatwaves occurred in the years 2009 and 2013.

Residual discharge was calculated to determine if heatwaves are more likely to occur during periods of low discharge compared to expected discharge conditions. For all months except January, the median residual discharge during heatwaves was less than zero and for most months the upper 95th percentile of the distribution was below zero. Thus, heatwaves tend to occur during low discharge except in November through January (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Daily average residual discharge during heatwave events. The median value is the dark line within the distribution, box ends are the 25th and 75th percentiles, and lines extending from the boxes indicate the 5th and 95th percentiles.

Physical, Chemical, and Hydrological Site Conditions

Discharge is variable in the James River at Cartersville with flood (or high discharge events) occurring episodically, and low discharge typically associated with the warmest periods of the year (Figure 5). In contrast with discharge, water temperature, dissolved oxygen, and light have pronounced and regular seasonal cycles (Figure 5). The inverse pattern of water temperature and dissolved oxygen reflects the greater solubility of oxygen in cold water (Zhi et al. 2023). Similarly, water temperature is inversely related to discharge. Discharge is generally lower during summer months due to increased rates of evapotranspiration resulting in lower run-off (Bukaveckas 2009).



Figure 5. High-frequency observations of discharge (top left), water temperature (bottom left), PAR (top right), and DO (bottom right) over the water years of 2012 to 2023.

Are Metabolic Rates Different During Heatwaves?

GPP and ER followed seasonal patterns in water temperature and PAR (Figure 6). Daily rates of ER were on average 3x greater (mean = -3.14 ± 2.92 g O₂ m⁻² d⁻¹) than GPP (mean = 0.70 ± 0.98 g O₂ m⁻² d⁻¹; Table 1). Note that ER represents oxygen consumption, so it is expressed as a negative number. The standard deviation was approximately the same magnitude as the mean, indicating substantial variability of the rates (Table 1). Ranges were also large especially for ER and NEM (Table 1). Daily average NEM was -2.41 ± 2.88 g O₂ m⁻² d⁻¹ indicating this section of the James River was predominately net heterotrophic (66% of the time over the study period or 2751 days out of 4198 total days). Linear regressions between log transformed metabolic parameters (i.e., GPP and ER) and daily mean water temperature and daily mean log transformed discharge were highly significant (p-values ≤ 0.001) but had low explanatory power (R² < 0.20). Gas exchange was high for the James River at this location (mean 3.78 ± 1.99 m d⁻¹) as expected for rivers due to the quickly moving and relatively shallow water (Raymond et al. 2012).



Figure 6. Average monthly rates of GPP (green, top) and ER (blue, bottom) after the outlier and non-real data were removed. ER values are generally much greater than GPP values, indicating a net heterotrophic system.

Table 1. Summary statistics for output metabolism data from streamMetabolizer. These values were calculated after the outlier and non-real data were removed. A negative mean NEM indicates the system is net heterotrophic.

Metabolism Parameter	Mean	SD	Range
GPP (g O ₂ m ⁻² d ⁻¹)	0.70	0.98	10.63
$ER (g O_2 m^{-2} d^{-1})$	-3.14	2.92	25.54
NEM (g O ₂ m ⁻² d ⁻¹)	-2.41	2.88	31.61

Daily mean GPP during non-heatwave conditions was 0.70 ± 0.96 g O_2 m⁻² d⁻¹ which was significantly lower than GPP during moderate heatwaves (1.01 ± 1.30 g O_2 m⁻² d⁻¹, p-value = 0.003, Table 1, Figure 7). GPP during strong heatwaves was low $(0.49 \pm 1.13 \text{ g O}_2 \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1})$ and was significantly lower than moderate heatwave conditions (p = 0.002, Figure 7) but was not significantly different from non-heatwave conditions. ER and NEM were not significantly different during heatwave and non-heatwave conditions or during moderate versus strong heatwave conditions (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Riverine heatwave conditions by metabolic variable. Baseline (no heatwave) conditions are in blue, moderate heatwaves are in yellow, and strong heatwaves are in orange. GPP significantly increased during moderate heatwaves (p < 0.05) and significantly decreased during strong heatwaves compared to moderate heatwaves (p < 0.05). There were no other significant differences.

Discussion

Riverine heatwaves affect gross primary production but do not impact the other components of ecosystem metabolism for the James River study site (Figure 7). There are several possibilities for the positive effect on GPP during moderate heatwaves. Higher temperatures are associated with lower discharge (Tassone et al. 2022a; van Vliet et al. 2023) and therefore greater water clarity, which could facilitate photosynthesis until it becomes lightlimited by depth (Bernhardt et al. 2018). Also, low discharge facilitates the buildup of attached algae, as scouring from surfaces is reduced (Bernhardt et al. 2018). Additionally, moderate heatwaves may create an advantageous thermal range for primary producers, but as heatwaves become more severe GPP would be expected to decrease due to thermal stress on primary producers (De Stasio et al. 2009; Smale et al. 2019; Filbee-Dexter et al. 2020; Tassone et al. personal communication 2024). This hypothesis was partially supported by my results, as it was observed that GPP during strong heatwaves was significantly lower than GPP during moderate heatwaves (Figure 7). This result suggests stronger heatwaves may exceed thermal tolerances and therefore suppress GPP (Figure 7; Joint and Smale 2017). Other studies have found rising temperatures have a stronger effect on ER compared to GPP (Demars et al. 2011; Song et al. 2018), which did not occur in this case. While I did see an increase in the median rate of respiration during moderate heatwaves compared to non-heatwave conditions, this increase was not statistically significant. However, more data would be needed to confirm this difference in results. The general lack of statistically significant differences for ER and NEM could be due to the low sample size (i.e., 5844 non-heatwave days compared to 187 moderate heatwave days and 115 strong heatwave days). Other studies have suggested that strong heatwaves can negatively affect primary producers (Smale et al. 2019; Aoki et al. 2021; Filbee-Dexter et al. 2020) thereby causing aquatic systems to become net heterotrophic (Berger et al. 2020). Overall, my results provide evidence that moderate riverine heatwaves can affect aquatic metabolism by increasing rates of GPP.

Like many rivers, the James at Cartersville had a negative mean NEM (GPP < ER), signifying this system was net heterotrophic (Table 1; Figure 6; Cole and Caraco 2001; Demars et al. 2011; Munn et al. 2023). The differences between ER and GPP (NEM) were similar to those found in a study of metabolism from the James River Estuary below Richmond where phytoplankton blooms occur in summer (Tassone and Bukaveckas 2019). However, ER and GPP were lower at Cartersville, as would be expected for riverine systems compared to their wide and shallow estuarine equivalents (Tassone and Bukaveckas 2019).

Heatwaves were associated with low-flow conditions, as the monthly median residual discharge during heatwaves was < 0 for most months of the year (Figure 4). Droughts can amplify temperatures (Tassone et al. 2022a; van Vliet et al. 2023) and thus lead to heatwave conditions. January was the only month in which the median residual discharge during heatwaves was > 0. This could be because the lack of evapotranspiration in the watershed coupled with episodic heavy precipitation in winter leads to high surface and groundwater flow (Bukaveckas 2009). The large variability of residual discharge during heatwaves for November-January suggest high variability in discharge temperatures for these months.

Of the 40 observed heatwaves, 70% were of moderate severity. While strong heatwaves were also observed (30%), no severe or extreme events occurred during the years of this study at the Cartersville location, thereby limiting my ability to assess impacts of all heatwave severity classifications on metabolism (Figure 3). Other studies have considered the seasonality of heatwave events, citing that the most severe riverine heatwaves tend to take place during winter (Tassone et al. 2022a). Of the top ten percent most intense heatwaves in the present study (n = 4), 50% occurred in winter, 25% in summer and 25% in spring. Additionally, most heatwaves were observed in the summer, similar to prior observations (Tassone et al. 2022a). The total annual heatwave days and annual frequency do not appear to be increasing over time (p > 0.05) as might be expected due to climate warming (Tassone et al. 2022a; Zhu et al. 2024). However, the relatively short 16-year time series may be insufficient for observing effects of climate

warming on heatwaves. Additionally, other studies have found non-significant trends in heatwave duration over time (Tassone et al. 2022b).

This study had several limitations including 1) the length of the times series for analysis of heatwaves, 2) uncertainties in metabolism estimates, and 3) the need to use data from other locations because not all the necessary data were available at Cartersville. Water temperature and DO time series only overlapped for 11 years which is a relatively short period for identifying heatwaves and associated effects on metabolic processes. While I had thousands of daily estimates of GPP, ER, and NEM, there were only 40 heatwaves over the record, with each heatwave lasting on average 8 ± 3 days. More heatwaves, including those in the severe and extreme categories, would have allowed a fuller analysis of effects on metabolism. A second concern is that metabolic estimates based on diel oxygen cycles are relatively imprecise (Appling et al. 2018a; Pace et al. 2021). Other processes besides photosynthesis and respiration affect oxygen concentrations, and these can be difficult to account for. Some examples include airwater gas exchange, photochemical oxygen consumption, unaccounted inputs and losses (e.g. lateral or hyporheic flows) and variable inputs (and losses) of oxygen relative to the measurement footprint of the sensor (Reichert et al. 2009; Pace et al. 2021). In this study I estimated air-water gas exchange by statistical fitting whereas there are process models that allow direct estimation (Dugan et al. 2016). Overall, unmeasured processes and random variation including rapid changes in river conditions that alter oxygen concentrations independent of biological production and consumption are likely to contribute to the observed negative values of GPP and positive values of ER. Regardless, more constrained and precise estimates of rates would facilitate testing for the effects of conditions like heatwaves. A third specific limitation for my study was that PAR data were not available for the study location. I used data from a site

about 130 km from Carterville, which may represent the general area well but may not account for local variability in light conditions (e.g., due to variable cloud passage).

Despite the limitations of my study, a significant increase in GPP under moderate heatwave conditions is an important finding and can provide insight for how aquatic ecosystems will function under climate change. Future studies should build on this result and consider additional sites and longer times series that incorporate more heatwaves to facilitate within and among-site analysis of results. Additionally, because severe and extreme heatwave events were not observed during this study, considering systems that have a history of severe and extreme heatwaves is necessary to further understanding of how extreme climatic events will impact ecosystem functioning. Given what was found in this study, an increase in GPP during moderate heatwaves with no significant change in ER means more CO₂ will be removed from the system while inputs of photosynthetically produced O₂ will be elevated.

References

- Aoki, L. R., McGlathery, K. J., Wiberg, P. L., Oreska, M. P. J., Berger, A. C., Berg, P., & Orth,
 R. J. (2021). Seagrass recovery following marine heat wave influences sediment carbon stocks. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7, 576784.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.576784
- Appling, A. P., Hall, R. O., Yackulic, C. B., & Arroita, M. (2018a). Overcoming equifinality: Leveraging long time series for stream metabolism estimation. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 123*(2), 624–645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2017jg004140</u>
- Appling, A. P., Read, J. S., Winslow, L. A., Arroita, M., Bernhardt, E. S., Griffiths, N. A., ... & Yackulic, C. B. (2018). The metabolic regimes of 356 rivers in the United States. *Scientific data*, 5(1), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2018.292</u>
- Berger, A. C., Berg, P., McGlathery, K. J., & Delgard, M. L. (2020). Long-term trends and resilience of seagrass metabolism: A decadal aquatic eddy covariance study. *Limnology* and Oceanography, 65(7), 1423–1438. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.11397
- Bernhardt, E. S., Heffernan, J. B., Grimm, N. B., Stanley, E. H., Harvey, J. W., Arroita, M., ... & Yackulic, C. B. (2018). The metabolic regimes of flowing waters. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 63(S1), S99-S118. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.10726
- Bukaveckas, P. A. (2009) Rivers. In: Gene E. Likens, (Editor) Encyclopedia of Inland Waters. Volume 1, pp. 721-732. Oxford: Elsevier.
- Bukaveckas, P. A., Tassone, S., Lee, W., & Franklin, R. B. (2020). The influence of storm events on metabolism and water quality of riverine and estuarine segments of the James, Mattaponi, and Pamunkey Rivers. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 43, 1585–1602. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-020-00819-9

- Caffrey, J. M. (2004). Factors controlling net ecosystem metabolism in US estuaries. *Estuaries*, 27(1), 90–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02803563
- Cole, J. J., & Caraco, N. F. (2001). Carbon in catchments: Connecting terrestrial carbon losses with aquatic metabolism. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 52, 101–110. https://doi.org/10.1071/mf00084
- De Cicco, L.A., Hirsch, R.M., Lorenz, D., Watkins, W.D., Johnson, M., 2023, dataRetrieval: R packages for discovering and retrieving water data available from Federal hydrologic web services, v.2.7.13, doi:10.5066/P9X4L3GE
- Demars, B. O., Russell Manson, J., Ólafsson, J. S., Gíslason, G. M., Gudmundsdóttir, R.,
 Woodward, G. U. Y., ... & Friberg, N. (2011). Temperature and the metabolic balance of streams. *Freshwater Biology*, 56(6), 1106-1121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-</u>2427.2010.02554.x
- De Stasio, B.T., Golemgeski, T., D.M. Livingstone. (2009). Temperature as a driving factor in aquatic ecosystems. Chapter 74, In: Likens, G. E. (editor). Encyclopedia of Inland Waters. Vol. 2, pp. 690-698. Oxford, Elsevier, Inc., San Diego, CA.
- Dugan, H. A., Woolway, R. I., Santoso, A. B., Corman, J. R., Jaimes, A., Nodine, E. R., ...
 Weathers, K. C. (2016). Consequences of gas flux model choice on the interpretation of metabolic balance across 15 lakes. *Inland Waters*, 6(4), 581–592.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/IW-6.4.836
- Filbee-Dexter, K., Wernberg, T., Grace, S. P., Thormar, J., Fredriksen, S., Narvaez, C. N., Feehan, C. J., & Norderhaug, K. M. (2020). Marine heatwaves and the collapse of marginal North Atlantic kelp forests. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-70273-x

- Gillooly, J. F., Brown, J. H., West, G. B., Savage, V. M., & Charnov, E. L. (2001). Effects of size and temperature on metabolic rate. *Science*, 293(5538), 2248–2251. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1061967
- Hall, R. O., Tank, J. L., Baker, M. A., Rosi-Marshall, E. J., & Hotchkiss, E. R. (2016).
 Metabolism, gas exchange, and carbon spiraling in rivers. *Ecosystems*, 19, 73–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-015-9918-1
- Hobbs, N. T., & Hooten, M. B. (2015). Bayesian models: a statistical primer for ecologists. Princeton University Press.
- Hobday, A. J., Alexander, L. V., Perkins, S. E., Smale, D. A., Straub, S. C., Oliver, E. C., ... & Wernberg, T. (2016). A hierarchical approach to defining marine heatwaves. *Progress in oceanography*, 141, 227-238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2015.12.014</u>
- Hobday, A. J., Oliver, E. C. J., Sen Gupta, A., Benthuysen, J. A., Burrows, M. T., Donat, M. G.,
 Holbrook, N. J., Moore, P. J., Thomsen, M. S., Wernberg, T., & Smale, D. A. (2018).
 Categorizing and naming marine heatwaves. *Oceanography*, 31(2), 162–173.
 https://doi.org/10.5670/oceanog.2018.205
- Joint, I., & Smale, D. A. (2017). Marine heatwaves and optimal temperatures for microbial assemblage activity. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 93, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiw243
- Kaushal, S. S., Likens, G. E., Jaworski, N. A., Pace, M. L., Sides, A. M., Seekell, D., ... & Wingate, R. L. (2010). Rising stream and river temperatures in the United States. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 8(9), 461-466. https://doi.org/10.1890/090037

Lau, N.-C., & Nath, M. J. (2012). A model study of heat waves over North America:
Meteorological aspects and projections for the twenty-first century. *Journal of Climate*, 25(14), 4761–4784. https://doi.org/10.1175/jcli-d-11-00575.1

- Lima, F. P., & Wethey, D. S. (2012). Three decades of high-resolution coastal sea surface temperatures reveal more than warming. *Nature Communications*, 3, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1713
- Mulholland, P. J., Fellows, C. S., Tank, J. L., Grimm, N. B., Webster, J. R., Hamilton, S. K., ...
 & Peterson, B. J. (2001). Inter-biome comparison of factors controlling stream
 metabolism. *Freshwater biology*, 46(11), 1503-1517. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2001.00773.x
- NOAA National Estuarine Research Reserve System (NERRS). System-wide Monitoring Program. Data accessed from the NOAA NERRS Centralized Data Management Office website: http://www.nerrsdata.org; accessed 26 November 2023.
- Munn, M. D., Konrad, C. P., Miller, M. P., & Jaeger, K. (2023). A comparison of spatial and temporal drivers of stream metabolism. *Freshwater Biology*, 68(10), 1751–1764. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.14163
- Odum, H. T. (1956). Primary production in flowing waters. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 1(2), 102–117. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1956.1.2.0102

Oliver, E. C. J., Donat, M. G., Burrows, M. T., Moore, P. J., Smale, D. A., Alexander, L. V., Benthuysen, J. A., Feng, M., Sen Gupta, A., Hobday, A. J., Holbrook, N. J., Perkins-Kirkpatrick, S. E., Scannell, H. A., Straub, S. C., & Wernberg, T. (2018). Longer and more frequent marine heatwaves over the past century. *Nature Communications*, *9*, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03732-9</u>

- O'Reilly, C. M., Sharma, S., Gray, D. K., Hampton, S. E., Read, J. S., Rowley, R. J., ... & Zhang,
 G. (2015). Rapid and highly variable warming of lake surface waters around the
 globe. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 42(24), 10-773.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/2015GL066235
- Pace, M.L., and Y.T. Prairie. (2005). Respiration in lakes, pp. 103-121. In P.J. le. B. Williams and P.A. del Giorgio (eds.) *Respiration in Aquatic Ecosystems*. Oxford University Press.
- Pace, M. L., Buelo, C. D., & Carpenter, S. R. (2021). Phytoplankton biomass, dissolved organic matter, and temperature drive respiration in whole lake nutrient additions. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 66(6), 2174–2186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.11738</u>
- Patra, R. W., Chapman, J. C., Lim, R. P., Gehrke, P. C., & Sunderam, R. M. (2015). Interactions between water temperature and contaminant toxicity to freshwater fish. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 34(8), 1809-1817. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.2990
- R Core Team (2023). _R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing_. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/>.
- Raymond, P. A., Zappa, C. J., Butman, D., Bott, T. L., Potter, J., Mulholland, P., ... & Newbold,
 D. (2012). Scaling the gas transfer velocity and hydraulic geometry in streams and small rivers. *Limnology and Oceanography: Fluids and Environments, 2*(1), 41-53. https://doi.org/10.1215/21573689-1597669
- Reichert, P., Uehlinger, U., & Acuña, V. (2009). Estimating stream metabolism from oxygen concentrations: effect of spatial heterogeneity. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 114*(G3). https://doi.org/10.1029/2008JG000917
- Rhein, M., S.R. Rintoul, S. Aoki, E. Campos, D. Chambers, R.A. Feely, S. Gulev, G.C. Johnson,S.A. Josey, A. Kostianoy, C. Mauritzen, D. Roemmich, L.D. Talley and F. Wang, 2013:

Observations: Ocean. In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

- Schlegel, R. W., Oliver, E. C. J., Hobday, A. J., & Smit, A. J. (2019). Detecting marine heatwaves with sub-optimal data. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00737
- Schlegel RW, Smit AJ (2018). "heatwaveR: A central algorithm for the detection of heatwaves and cold-spells."_Journal of Open Source Software_, *3*(27), 821. doi:10.21105/joss.00821 <https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.00821>.
- Smale, D. A., Wernberg, T., Oliver, E. C., Thomsen, M., Harvey, B. P., Straub, S. C., ... & Moore, P. J. (2019). Marine heatwaves threaten global biodiversity and the provision of ecosystem services. *Nature Climate Change*, 9(4), 306-312. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0412-1
- Smith, K. E., Burrows, M. T., Hobday, A. J., Sen Gupta, A., Moore, P. J., Thomsen, M.,
 Wernberg, T., & Smale, D. A. (2021). Socioeconomic impacts of marine heatwaves:
 Global issues and opportunities. *Science*, *374*(6566), 1–11.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abj3593

Smock, L. A., Wright, A. B., & Benke, A. C. (2005). Atlantic coast rivers of the southeastern United States. *Rivers of North America*, 72-122. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012088253-3/50006-7

- Song, C., Dodds, W. K., Rüegg, J., Argerich, A., Baker, C. L., Bowden, W. B., ... & Ballantyne IV, F. (2018). Continental-scale decrease in net primary productivity in streams due to climate warming. *Nature Geoscience*, 11(6), 415-420. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-018-0125-5</u>
- Tassone, S. J., & Bukaveckas, P. A. (2019). Seasonal, interannual, and longitudinal patterns in estuarine metabolism derived from diel oxygen data using multiple computational approaches. *Estuaries and Coasts, 42*, 1032–1051. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-019-00526-0
- Tassone, S. J., Besterman, A. F., Buelo, C. D., Ha, D. T., Walter, J. A., & Pace, M. L. (2022a). Increasing heatwave frequency in streams and rivers of the United States. *Limnology and Oceanography Letters*, 8, 295–304. https://doi.org/10.1002/lol2.10284
- Tassone, S. J., Besterman, A. F., Buelo, C. D., Walter, J. A., & Pace, M. L. (2022b). Cooccurrence of aquatic heatwaves with atmospheric heatwaves, low dissolved oxygen, and low pH events in estuarine ecosystems. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 45, 707–720. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-021-01009-x
- U.S. Geological Survey. 2016. National Water Information System data available on the World Wide Web (USGS Water Data for the Nation) <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5066/F7P55KJN</u>
- U.S. Geological Survey, 2019, The StreamStats program, online at https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/, accessed on (3/11/24).
- Vannote, R. L., Minshall, G. W., Cummins, K. W., Sedell, J. R., & Cushing, C. E. (1980). The river continuum concept. *Canadian journal of fisheries and aquatic sciences*, 37(1), 130-137. https://doi.org/10.1139/f80-017

- Van Vliet, M. T., Thorslund, J., Strokal, M., Hofstra, N., Flörke, M., Ehalt Macedo, H., ... & Mosley, L. M. (2023). Global river water quality under climate change and hydroclimatic extremes. *Nature Reviews Earth & Environment, 4*(10), 687-702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s43017-023-00472-3</u>
- Woolway, R. I., Jennings, E., Shatwell, T., Golub, M., Pierson, D. C., & Maberly, S. C. (2021). Lake heatwaves under climate change. *Nature*, 589, 402–407. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-03119-1
- Zhi, W., Ouyang, W., Shen, C., & Li, L. (2023). Temperature outweighs light and flow as the predominant driver of dissolved oxygen in US rivers. *Nature Water*, 1, 249–260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s44221-023-00038-z</u>
- Zhu, S., Di Nunno, F., Sun, J., Sojka, M., Ptak, M., & Granata, F. (2024). An optimized NARXbased model for predicting thermal dynamics and heatwaves in rivers. *Science of The Total Environment*, 926, 171954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2024.171954